
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Emily Boyd <emily@iisd.org>, Jon Hanks <jon@iisd.org>, Lisa Schipper
<lisa@iisd.org>, Malena Sell <malena@iisd.org>, Chris Spence <chris@iisd.org> and Juliette Voinov <cedrickohler@msn.com>. The Digital Editor is Franz Dejon
<franz@iisd.org> and the photographer is Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org>. The Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego
Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI
<kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States
(through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development  -
DfID, and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through
the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU,  and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2001
is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japan
Environment Agency (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies – IGES.) The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-
644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada.
The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the
Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in
commercial publications, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the
Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. The satellite image was produced by The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin or to arrange coverage of a meeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director, IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 12 No. 188 Friday, 9 November 2001

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

 COP-7
#11

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/cop7/

UNFCCC COP-7 HIGHLIGHTS
THURSDAY, 8 NOVEMBER 2001

The High-Level Segment of COP-7 continued with statements 
from 30 ministers and other heads of delegation, and from observer 
states, IGOs and NGOs. The SBI met to conclude its work. High-
level talks and technical discussions took place during the day and 
into the night on the mechanisms, LULUCF, Protocol Articles 5 
(methodological issues), 7 (communication of information) and 8 
(review of information), and input to the WSSD.

HIGH-LEVEL SEGMENT
STATEMENTS BY PARTIES: Delegates met in the morning 

and afternoon to hear statements from 30 ministers and heads of 
delegation. Many Parties supported ratification of the Protocol and 
its entry into force in time for the WSSD in Johannesburg, and 
several highlighted the growing scientific evidence provided by 
the IPCC in support of urgent and stronger action on climate 
change. A number of Parties also underscored the close links 
between climate change and poverty.

On the negotiations at COP-7, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION 
emphasized his concern with discussions on the development of 
rules and modalities for accounting of emissions and removals by 
sinks, and said working documents had become overloaded with 
technical details. He said that simplification of reporting proce-
dures was a key issue for ratification. MALAYSIA said countries 
should not reopen negotiations on the Bonn Agreements. On ratifi-
cation of the Protocol, NEW ZEALAND announced its intention 
to ratify in time for the WSSD, adding that it was currently the only 
Umbrella Group Party to have made such a commitment, although 
he predicted that it “will be in good company before too long.” 

On the mechanisms, PAKISTAN urged strong, clear and flex-
ible rules on the CDM based on principles of equity and sustain-
ability, and stressed that the CDM and other mechanisms should 
not be a substitute for long-term emissions reductions. THAI-
LAND said it would like to see equal treatment of modalities and 
rules between mechanisms and a balance between adaptation and 
mitigation activities. CHILE said the CDM would facilitate access 
to technology and address local environmental problems, and 
urged the IPCC to “speed up” work on procedures for good prac-
tice guidance and permanence. MALAYSIA said the Executive 
Board should ensure environmental integrity of all projects. 
URUGUAY noted its willingness to participate in CDM sinks 
activities, and highlighted national efforts to prepare for the CDM. 
The RUSSIAN FEDERATION insisted on the removal of limita-
tions on Parties’ ability to use the mechanisms.

On capacity building and technology transfer, JORDAN said 
that progress in combating climate change required financial assis-
tance, transfer of environmentally-sound technologies, and the 
extension of technical assistance for capacity building. EGYPT 
recommended the establishment of environmental information 
centers and clearinghouses for the transfer of environmentally-
sound technologies. MALAYSIA, MOZAMBIQUE, 
PORTUGAL, URUGUAY and KUWAIT also highlighted the 
need for technology transfer. 

On the circumstances and needs of LDCs, TANZANIA, 
BENIN and DJIBOUTI noted that they will be most affected by 
climate change and have the least capacity to cope. He urged steps 
to ensure that LDCs can be fully involved in CDM projects. 
MOZAMBIQUE and PORTUGAL noted the importance of the 
draft decisions on LDCs. Regarding assistance to countries highly 
dependent on fossil fuel exports, KUWAIT highlighted the impor-
tance of such assistance, and proposed: removal of tax incentives 
and exemptions from duties and fees in all sectors relating to emis-
sions of gases; elimination of incentives for unsound technology; 
assistance for diversifying economies; and the development of 
technology to allow lower emissions from fossil fuel use.

On adaptation, PAKISTAN noted the need to broaden the focus 
from mitigation toward action on adaptation and vulnerability. 
PERU stressed the lack of adaptation and vulnerability research. 
ALGERIA emphasized that arid and semi-arid zones are on the 
frontline of vulnerability, and encouraged synergies between the 
CCD, CBD and UNFCCC. NAMIBIA said an adaptive response 
requires, inter alia, an interdisciplinary and multi-sectoral 
approach. PORTUGAL said adaptation could promote sustainable 
development and equity within and across generations. PANAMA, 
for Central American Parties, drew attention to a new GEF 
regional adaptation pilot project, and URUGUAY underscored the 
importance of the Adaptation Fund. BANGLADESH supported 
the speedy application of the Adaptation and LDC Funds, and 
highlighted the particular vulnerability of low lying and small 
island states.

OTHER STATEMENTS: Observer States: TURKEY said it 
was looking forward to COP-7’s adoption of a decision forwarded 
from SBI removing Turkey from the Annex II list and recognizing 
its special circumstances as an Annex I Party.

Intergovernmental Organizations: The INTERNATIONAL 
ENERGY AGENCY said it was working on solutions to “marshal 
market forces” to achieve realistic climate change objectives. He 
highlighted renewable energy options in combating climate 
change, while advocating that no possible fuel or technology solu-



Friday, 9 November 2001  Vol. 12 No. 188 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

tion be excluded, noting that carbon-intense options might be offset 
by carbon sequestration, or that concerns over nuclear could be 
resolved. 

OPEC highlighted the impacts of climate change response 
measures on economies that are highly dependent on fossil fuel 
exports. He suggested that the “entire philosophy of energy taxa-
tion” be reconsidered, and stated that the biggest environmental 
challenge is poverty.

NGOs: CLIMATE ACTION NETWORK SOUTH stated that 
the commitment of developed countries to combating climate 
change and meeting their obligations “remains weak.” He 
supported a strong compliance regime for the Protocol, and called 
for clear commitments to the various funds agreed at COP-6 Part II, 
labeling current financial undertakings as “pathetic.” The INTER-
NATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE said further attention 
needed to be paid to developing the details on the mechanisms, 
including on the effect of the compliance regime on credits 
acquired or sold by businesses with respect to emissions trading, 
and on transfer and use of credits acquired through CDM project 
investment. Beyond COP-7, he advocated early negotiations on 
second and third commitment periods, and implementation of the 
UNFCCC in a manner that would allow full business participation.

The INDIGENOUS PEOPLES’ ORGANIZATIONS noted that 
there are 350 million indigenous peoples in the world, with many 
being extremely vulnerable to climate change. She requested a 
COP decision to grant indigenous peoples a specific status in the 
climate change process, and said it should create an ad hoc interses-
sional open-ended working group. GLOBAL LEGISLATORS 
ORGANIZATION FOR A BALANCED ENVIRONMENT 
supported a rigorous compliance system, limits on the use of sinks, 
and a CDM that involves as many developing countries and LDCs 
as possible, and that includes small-scale projects. He supported 
active public procurement policies to bring prices down for renew-
able energy and called for technology leap-frogging. CLIMATE 
ACTION NETWORK NORTH linked climate change to health 
and poverty issues. She said Parties should not reopen agreed limits 
on the use of sinks, and sinks credits must not be carried into the 
next commitment period. Noting that she was from a Russian 
NGO, she said the Russian Federation will benefit from participa-
tion in the Protocol, and highlighted a statement by President Putin 
stating that he would be cooperating with the EU with a view to 
early ratification and entry into force.

The US and EUROPEAN BUSINESS COUNCILS FOR 
SUSTAINABLE ENERGY supported a fast-track for CDM 
projects, early crediting, full transferability of CERs, and a binding 
compliance regime. He also called for climate change processes to 
allow for civil society input while critical issues are being debated. 
The INTERNATIONAL CONFEDERATION OF FREE TRADE 
UNIONS, TRADE UNION ADVISORY COMMITTEE TO THE 
OECD and EUROPEAN CONFEDERATION OF FREE TRADE 
UNIONS highlighted the potential for job creation resulting from 
climate change measures and called for employment transition 
programmes.  

The WORLD BUSINESS COUNCIL FOR SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT highlighted the role of business as a solution 
provider and said the mechanisms should be efficient and function 
with low transaction costs. The WORLD COUNCIL OF 
CHURCHES evoked its convening of a COP-7 interfaith collo-
quium and outlined the Muslim and Christian perspectives on 
protecting the environment and avoiding climate change.

SBI
SBI-15 convened for its final meeting to address its three 

outstanding agenda items: LDCs, CGE and the report of the 
session. On LDCs, Parties adopted draft conclusions on assessing 

the status of implementation of UNFCCC Article 4.9 (LDCs). They 
also agreed to forward to the COP unbracketed draft decisions on: 
the establishment of an LDC Fund; guidance to the financial mech-
anism for the operation of the LDC Fund; and guidelines for the 
preparation of NAPAs. Parties also adopted a draft decision on the 
CGE, and the report of the session.

NEGOTIATING GROUPS AND INFORMAL 
CONSULTATIONS

PROTOCOL ARTICLES 5, 7 AND 8: The negotiating group 
on Articles 5, 7 and 8 met in an afternoon session. Chair Dovland 
reported that ministers and other senior officials were consulting on 
a LULUCF compromise proposal, and would also consider the 
issue of reporting on supplementarity and narrowing of per capita 
emissions differences, as well as questions related to reporting and 
review of Article 3.14 (adverse effects) implementation. 

Turning to other outstanding issues, delegates agreed on text on 
confidentiality proposed by a drafting group that had met in the 
morning. On the draft COP-7 decision, Parties accepted language 
requesting the Secretariat to prepare a document analyzing how 
confidentiality is dealt with in other international treaty bodies and 
organizations. On Article 4 (joint fulfillment), Chair Dovland noted 
that the EU and Umbrella Group were holding bilateral consulta-
tions, and that the issue would not be forwarded to ministers. 
JAPAN and the G-77/CHINA agreed to hold bilateral consultations 
on the matter of reinstatement of mechanisms’ eligibility. 

The G-77/CHINA then introduced a proposal on the composi-
tion of ERTs and the selection of Lead Reviewers, based on a 
formula considering both UN regional representation, and Annex I 
and non-Annex I membership. Several delegates expressed confu-
sion over the proposal and concern that it could open up previously 
agreed paragraphs. After the meeting closed, informal consulta-
tions continued. 

MECHANISMS: High-level regional and bilateral consulta-
tions continued throughout the day facilitated by Valli Moosa 
(South Africa) and Phillipe Roch (Switzerland), with new draft 
decisions for a work programme on mechanisms distributed in the 
evening. Crunch issues across the mechanisms that remained to be 
resolved included eligibility requirements, bankability and trans-
ferability of units, and the issuance and cancellation of RMUs.

IN THE CORRIDORS
As high-level negotiations continued late Thursday night, final 

agreement remained elusive on the package deal proposed earlier 
in the evening by facilitators Moosa and Roch. According to 
reports, by 10:30 pm, all regional groups except the Umbrella 
Group had accepted the deal. At 11:30 pm, ministers reconvened to 
hear whether the Umbrella Group would join the consensus. 
However, no deal had been made by shortly before 1:00 am, and 
ministers decided to resume at 9:00 am after consultations with 
capitals, amid concerns as to whether a deal could be struck Friday.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
HIGH-LEVEL NEGOTIATIONS: High-level negotiations 

are likely to resume around 9:00 am to continue seeking an agree-
ment on the package deal.

CLOSING PLENARY: The COP Plenary to adopt 
outstanding decisions and conclusions will take place after negotia-
tions have been completed. Check the monitors for updates.


